1961

John S. Davis dba Geneva Lumber Co. v. Payne and Day, Inc. : Brief of Appellant on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff brought this action to recover \$7,294.61 for materials claimed to have been furnished to defendant on the three count alternative theories of goods sold and delivered, quantum meruit, and open account. The first appeal was from an order granting defendant's motion to dismiss at the close of the first trial. This court reversed, and the case was tried a second time. This appeal is taken from a judgment in favor of plaintiff entered at the con-

clusion of the second trial and from an order overruling defendant's motion for a new trial. Defendant shall be hereinafter referred to as appellant and plaintiff as respondent.

The appellant, Payne and Day, Inc., a Utah corporation, during the year 1957 contracted for the construction of sixty-one homes in the Orem-Provo area for sale to interested buyers. The homes were built successively in five different groups beginning with a group of ten homes in Rose Garden Subdivision at Orem, and when that was completed, the remaining four groups of homes were constructed in Mount Aire Subdivision, Provo. Appellant employed C. E. Slavens as construction superintendent under separate contracts covering each group of homes in which his duties, authority, and compensation were specifically defined, (Exhibits 20, 21, 22). The construction superintendent procured bids from subcontractors on the labor and materials necessary for the construction of each home in each group, including respondent, and presented the same to appellant. Appellant then attached the bid to a written agreement with respondent, of which it was made a part, providing for the furnishing of two packages of building materials in connection with each home in each group of homes, (Exhibits 6 through 11). In these contracts, the parties fixed a single unit home price and appellant inserted in each the following provision:

"It is mutually agreed that any additions or deletions in the materials to be furnished are to be given in writing by party of second part (appellant) to the first party, and the value of the change, based upon prices quoted in the attached list, shall either be added or subtracted from the original contract."

The parties entered into five separate contracts on the five groups of homes in question; the first is dated February 21, 1957, and it covered ten homes in Rose Garden Subdivision, Orem, (Exhibit 6); the next is dated March 16, 1957, and it covered eleven homes in Mount Aire Subdivision, Provo, (Exhibit 10); the next was made June 3, 1957, and it covered sixteen homes in Mount Aire Subdivision, Provo, (Exhibit 8); the next is dated July 26, 1957, and it covered eleven homes in Mount Aire Subdivision, Provo, (Exhibit 7); and one dated September 3, 1957, covering twelve homes in the Mount Aire Subdivision, Provo, (Exhibit 9). There was also a contract dated September 23, 1957, covering one home in the Western Manor Subdivision, Orem, (Exhibit 11). These contracts all incorporated respondent's bids for furnishing all materials necessary for the construction of each home unit through second and final F. H. A. inspections. With the exception of the designation of the group of homes covered, these contracts contained substantially identical provisions, and for that reason we will refer to respondent's Exhibit 6 to illustrate the contract provisions.

Exhibit 6 covers the Rose Garden group of homes at Orem. It provides that respondent shall furnish materials for plan No. 485, schemes 1, 2, and 3, as per "attached lists", which become a part of the agreement, "for the price of \$2,116.00". It required the specified grade and quality indicated by the list and delivery within 15 days after being ordered by the appellant. The attached lists are entitled "Building Material List for Three Bedroom House-Garage Plan with gabled front porch plan 485, Package No. 1—Schemes 1, 2, 3." This list then specifies

in detail the number of units and the kind and quality of materials necessary to complete the package and prices out each unit and shows a package number 1 total net price of \$1,610.00. Then follows a list similarly titled for "package No. 2, schedules 1, 2, and 3," likewise detailing the materials and showing the net price for package No. 2 of \$506.00. The contract then provides for the above quoted writing in case there are any "additions or deletions" in the list. It is further provided that materials shall be stacked on the job site in good order and in accordance with the superintendent's instructions; that the contract price shall hold for ninety days at which time adjustments shall be made in accordance with current market prices; that appellant will purchase the material at the named price as needed; that payment for materials delivered is to be made on the 10th of the month following delivery to the 27th of the preceding month; "that delivery will be made and billed by package number as per attached list"; and the agreement covers the ten houses in Rose Garden Subdivision. The houses described in this contract were built and the parties fully performed their agreement.

On March 28 1957, respondent, Geneva Lumber Company, billed appellant for materials furnished as called for in package No. 1 under the contract, Exhibit 6, which comprised the framing materials taking each house up to second F. H. A. inspection. A receipt dated April 10, 1957, for \$16,100 was thereupon given by respondent to appellant acknowledging payment for the materials in package No. 1, (Exhibit 12). Also, on April 10, 1957, respondent executed and delivered to appellant a receipt on each home unit described in Exhibit 6 for the sum of

\$1610.00 reciting that it was "In full payment for materials furnished" as required by package No. 1 of Exhibit 6. Likewise on April 27, 1957, respondent billed appellant for materials furnished in package No. 2 on each house unit described in Exhibit 6 and on May 10, 1957, gave a separate receipt and lien waiver acknowledging payment in full for each unit package No. 2 materials as required by the contract, Exhibit 6, (Ex. 12; Tr. 132). Identical contracts were made between these same parties on each of the other groups of homes (Exhibits 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11) pursuant to which respondent furnished the materials called for by package No. 1 and package No. 2 for each unit and gave receipts in full on each home unit for all materials furnished for same, as well as lien waivers thereon. (Exhibits 13 A and B, 14 A, B, and C, 15 A, B, and C, 16 A, B, C, and D).

Three months after the date of the last contract (respondent's Exhibit 11) and after all of the contracts had been fully performed, including those of C. E. Slavens, the general superintendent, appellant corporation received a communication from Slavens (Exhibit 31) dated January 27, 1958, enclosing a statement from respondent for "extras on the 73 homes" in the amount of \$8398.30, and which included documents in the nature of itemized statements, in which Slavens stated, "I need not say that the entire bill is utterly ridiculous." Although the respondent did not send this statement directly to the appellant, but rather, sent same to Slavens, who was no longer employed by appellant and was then in Blanding, Utah, and this was the first notice appellant had been given that respondent was making claim for extras under the contracts in question, (Tr. 487-488), respondent, John Davis, admitted that

he was well aware of the contract provision (Tr. 421-423) requiring a "writing if there were any additions or deletions", and that he tried to get appellant on the telephone for the purpose of procuring the writing but was unable to do so, (Tr. 410). He also admitted that no writing was procured from the appellant authorizing any of the additions of materials which he claims to have furnished. Slavens denied that he ever told respondent that the required writing would not be necessary, (Tr. 567-570, 578-580). Slavens did admit receiving, on or about July 1, 1957, a statement from respondent, (Exhibit 19) for \$623.36 for extras on "Cherry Lane Project," (Tr. 571-572), and that he talked to respondent, John Davis' wife, and she told him it was sent out by mistake.

Respondent offered, as evidence of his claimed extras allegedly furnished appellant in the construction of the homes in question, three paper back books (Exhibits 1, 2, and 3,) containing numerous undated entries of materials claimed to have been furnished as "additions" to the lists attached to the contracts, (Exhibits 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11). The tabs attached to Exhibits 1, 2, and 3, the red penciling and the crosses appearing therein were added by the witnesses who identified same. Appellant made timely objections to Exhibits 1, 2, and 3, and all oral evidence going to the identification and explanation of same, and also to respondent's Exhibits 4 and 5 (Tr. 70-90), summarizing the reasoning process employed by the witnesses, making conclusions from the entries in the three books as to prices and materials. Appellant's objection to this evidence was made on the ground that its admission would be a violation of the parol evidence rule in view of the "additions and deletions" provision contained in the con-

tracts in question, and on the further ground that the evidence was self-serving and immaterial, (Tr. 47-53). The Court admitted this evidence despite appellant's objections.

Respondent used the date of the making of the contracts 6 through 11 respectively, to fix the time when the alleged extras were furnished, and thus ties Exhibit 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 directly into the contracts mentioned, (Tr. 154-158). Thus, the respondent dates the alleged delivery of materials by reasoning that this nebulous mass must have been furnished at the very time appellant was furnishing materials under the above mentioned contracts, and in violation of the "additions" provision of the same.

Respondent claimed that Slavens authorized the respondent to furnish the claimed extras appearing in Exhibits 1, 2, and 3, (Tr. 42-45; 84-86), but there is no evidence in the record that Slavens had any such authority, either express or implied. Over our objection, the court allowed the respondent to prove Slavens' authority by the above-mentioned extra-judicial statements he was alleged to have made to respondent.

The authority of Slavens to bind appellant is shown by the contracts under which he was employed. In fact, appellant required a contract with each of the persons who had any part in the construction of the homes in question, including the furnishing of materials. In each such case, appellant protected itself as far as "additions and deletions" were concerned by the above quoted contractual provision appearing in each contract.

Appellant relies for a reversal of the trial court upon the following:

STATEMENT OF POINTS**POINT 1**

THE PAROL EVDENCE RULE IS APPLICABLE AND THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING ORAL EVIDENCE OF CLAIMED EXTRAS VIS-A-VIS THE CONTRACTUAL PROVISION REQUIRING A WRITING IN THE EVENT ADDITIONAL MATERIALS WERE NEEDED.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN RECEIVING IN EVIDENCE THE ALLEGED ORAL EXTRA - JUDICIAL STATEMENTS CLAIMED TO HAVE BEEN MADE TO RESPONDENT BY SLAVENS, THE CONSTRUCTION SUPERINTENDENT OF APPELLANT, GOING TO THE EXISTENCE AND EXTENT OF HIS AUTHORITY AS AN AGENT.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE (1) THAT APPELLANT HAD IN CONNECTION WITH A CONTRACT NOT IN ISSUE OR BEFORE THE COURT IN THE INSTANT CASE PAID FOR ADDITIONAL MATERIALS FURNISHED, THOUGH NOT AUTHORIZED IN WRITING, AND (2) ALSO ORAL AND WRITTEN SELF-SERVING DECLARATIONS PERTAINING TO AN ACCOUNT THERETOFORE ACKNOWLEDGED TO HAVE BEEN PAID IN FULL.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND JUDG-

MENT, FINDING AND HOLDING THAT APPELLANT'S GENERAL SUPERINTENDENT HAD BOTH APPARENT AND ACTUAL AUTHORITY TO WAIVE THE PROVISIONS OF THE CONTRACT REQUIRING A WRITING SIGNED BY APPELLANT FOR EXTRA MATERIAL NOT CALLED FOR BY THE CONTRACT, THERE BEING NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT SAME.

POINT V

THE DOCTRINE OF THE "LAW OF THE CASE" DOES NOT PRECLUDE THE COURT FROM CONSIDERING APPELLANT'S POINTS MADE HEREIN DESPITE THE ADVERSE HOLDING ON THE FIRST APPEAL.

THE BASIC ISSUE

Appellant, Payne and Day Inc., is a Utah corporation wholly owned by Afton M. Payne and Henry Day, who supplied capital for the construction business, but who did not participate actively in its building program. The 61 homes in question were constructed under contracts with several individuals, including respondent, who contracted to furnish the necessary materials (Exhibits 6 through 11). There was also a separate contract with Slavens to supervise the construction work and act as construction superintendent. Thus appellant, having contractually established its costs for the construction of each of the homes in question, proceeded with its business venture. Appellant covenanted with respondent, in order to stabilize and control its costs so established, that written authority for "additions" should be procured from its owners. Hence the above quoted provision. In this regard, Slavens' contract

was significantly silent and respondent's was explicit. Appellant complains bitterly that this protective provision was held for naught on the admission in evidence over objection of the extra-judicial statements of Slavens that he had authority to waive the said provision. We believe appellant had a legal right to the protection of the provision in question and that the trial court erred in admitting this evidence. Although respondent claimed a bill of more than \$7,000.00 in extras, allegedly incurred over the period of the entire construction of the 61 homes in question, no demand was made to appellant for written authority to furnish such extras, despite the aforesaid contract provision. And as each of the contracts were performed (Exhibit 6-11), respondent billed appellant as required thereby, and was paid for all materials furnished, and gave receipts and lien waivers on each of the houses in question. But no mention was made to appellant that any extras were claimed by respondent until three months after the performance of the last contract. Appellant complains that respondent and Slavens, in effect, were allowed by the trial court to bypass, by a secret conspiracy, the crucial contract provision appellant's owners had placed in the contracts for its protection. Certainly, appellant had a right to rely on the contractual provisions, and it complains that the Court bypassed and ignored the same in awarding judgment to respondent.

THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE IS APPLICABLE AND THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING ORAL EVIDENCE OF CLAIMED EXTRAS VIS-A-VIS THE CONTRACTUAL PROVISION REQUIRING A WRITING IN THE EVENT ADDITIONAL MATERIALS WERE NEEDED.

It is obvious that the provision with respect to additional material being required to be in writing is a contractual provision of the written contracts in question. There is no evidence that there was ever any written authority given by the appellant to respondent to furnish any extras as claimed by respondent. Under these circumstances the respondent is barred from offering parol testimony that he furnished additional materials under the contract without producing a writing signed by appellant which complies with the terms of the said provision of the contract. The trial court refused to apply the parol evidence rule although it is firmly established in Utah law. Of the parol evidence rule, this Court in *Garrett v. Ellison* (1937) 98 Utah 184, 72 P 2d 449, 129 A. L. R. 669, has the following to say:

“ The rule, so called, may be stated thus. Parol evidence is inadmissible to vary, alter, control, or contradict the terms of a written instrument, in an action founded upon such writing, between the parties or privies thereto and the rule only applies to those elements or parts of the writing which are contractual between the parties and not merely recitals of fact . . . a rule has been established that

an agreement by parol which is collateral to the written contract and on a distinct subject may be proved. To lay down, in advance, a distinct formula that will determine by "rule of thumb" what cases come within it, is difficult . . . the rule is founded upon the principle that when the parties have discussed and agreed upon their obligations to each other, and reduced those terms to writing, that such terms, if clear and unambiguous, furnish better and more definite evidence of what was undertaken by each party than the too often fickle memory of man, or why else reduce it to writing. The rule applies to exclude extrinsic utterances, when it is sought to use those utterances for the purpose for which the writing was made and have superseded them as the legal act."

See also *Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Co. et al v. Harsh Utah Corporation* (1956) 5 Utah 2d 244; *Fullmer et al v. Morrill et eux.* (1954) 2 Utah 2d 347; 3 Jones Commentaries on Evidence, Sec. 1484.

Again we point out that appellant corporation was in a large building enterprise and the corporate officers did not have direct supervision of the work. For that reason it employed a construction superintendent and gave him supervisory authority only. Appellant also made separate contract with all the other subcontractors who participated in any way in the construction, among which respondent had the written contracts for furnishing materials under the package method of contracting. Appellant had a right to protect itself from claims for extras and did so by inserting in each contract the provision with respect to furnishing additional materials. Commenting upon this phase of the application of the parol evidence rule, the Utah Supreme Court stated in *Jenkins Used Cars*

vs. James G. Rice (1958) 7 Utah 2d, 276, 277, 323 P. 2d 259:

“But it is also elementary and of extreme practical importance that we hold contracting parties to their clear and understandable language deliberately committed to writing and endorsed by them as signatories thereto. Were this not so, business one with another among our citizens, would be relegated to the chaotic, and the basic purpose of the law, to supply enforceable rules of conduct for the maintenance and improvement of an orderly society’s welfare and progress, would find itself impotent. It is not unreasonable to hold one responsible for language which he himself espouses. Such language is the only implement he gives us to fashion a determination as to the intentions of the parties. Under such circumstances we should not be required to embosom any request that we ignore that very language. This is as it should be. The rule excluding matters outside the four corners of a clear, understandable document, is a fair one, and one’s contentions concerning his intent should extend no further than his own clear expressions.”

We do not think respondent can arrange with anyone to circumvent such written provision requiring written authority for the furnishing of any extras, rely upon the contracts, receive payment and receipt in full for materials furnished under same, and then, after complete performance, for the first time, make these surprise claims of extras that had been furnished. We believe that it was prejudicial error for the trial court to permit oral evidence which varied the terms of the written contractual provision inserted in the contract for the protection of the officers and owners of appellant corporation.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN RECEIVING IN EVIDENCE THE ALLEGED ORAL EXTRA - JUDICIAL STATEMENTS CLAIMED TO HAVE BEEN MADE TO RESPONDENT BY SLAVENS, THE CONSTRUCTION SUPERINTENDENT OF APPELLANT, GOING TO THE EXISTENCE AND EXTENT OF HIS AUTHORITY AS AN AGENT.

The trial court permitted respondent's evidence of alleged oral extra-judicial statements of Slavens that he had authority to waive the aforesaid "additions and deletions" provisions of the contracts in question. Such evidence is the sole basis for holding that appellant waived the contractual provisions in question. Respondent claimed that these oral statements were made by Slavens at Geneva's office in July of 1957; and that they were to the effect that respondent could keep a separate record of the claimed extras and that same would be kept secret from appellant. It was claimed that this amounted to respondent and appellant entering into an oral agreement to waive the writing requirement provision for extras contained in the said contracts. This is the evidence allowed by the Court. We submit that the construction superintendent's contract with appellant must be viewed in the light of the contractual provision in respondent's contracts requiring the writing in the event additional materials are required. Clearly this limits the construction superintendent's authority to supervision of the construction work, and any oral statement which he might make to respondent, who was a party to the contracts in question, could not possibly be construed to be binding upon

appellant. An agent's authority cannot be shown by reliance on oral declarations the alleged agent is supposed to have made. The applicable rule of law in this regard is stated in A. L. I. Restatement: Agency 2d, Section 285, beginning page 5, as follows:

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