1961

# John S. Davis dba Geneva Lumber Co. v. Payne and Day, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is the second appeal for this case. John S. Davis, d.b.a. Geneva Lumber Company Vs. Payne and Day, Inc., a corporation, 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P2d 337. Respondent took the first appeal from an order of dismissal granted by the court at the end of respondent's case. This court stated that the evidence, if believed by the trier of the facts, showed that the respondent here was entitled to relief, and remanded the case for a new trial.

Upon the second trial, made to the court sitting without a jury, the Hon. Will L. Hoyt granted plaintiff judgment based upon detailed findings of fact. Defendant below prosecuted this appeal from that judgment and an order denying a new trial.

Because we believe that at this stage of the proceedings there remains only fact questions, we quote the Findings of Fact, citing the record relied upon for each finding. It is remembered that the plaintiff below is the respondent.

“1. That at all times involved herein, the plaintiff, John S. Davis, was doing business under the name and style of Geneva Lumber Company; the defendant, Payne and Day, Inc., was at all times involved herein a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Utah. (Tr. 15, 21, 461.)

“2. That, during the year 1957, the defendant corporation caused to be constructed sixty-one homes in the Orem and Provo areas, for sale to prospective purchasers. (Tr. 250, 368, 463, 533).

“3. That C. E. Slavens was employed by the defendant as a general construction superintendent, to oversee and supervise the construction of the homes; that he was so employed under written contracts which are in evidence herein and which, among other things, provide that he should share in the profits arising from savings effected through construction of the houses at less than the estimated costs; that Mr. Slavens acted as construction superintendent throughout the construction period and the houses were built under his direction by various contractors. (Tr. 252-6, 368, 513-14; Exh. 20, 21, 22.)

“4. That between February 21, 1957, and September 23, 1957, plaintiff and defendant entered into and executed a series of six written contracts, substantially similar in form, and identified as plaintiff's exhibits 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11, in which the plaintiff agreed to furnish to the defendant corporation certain specified materials in specified quantities to be used in the construction of the sixty-one homes and the defendant

agreed to pay stipulated prices for such materials. (Tr. 11 ff, 16; Exh's. 6 to 11 inclusive).

"5. That C. E. Slavens, construction superintendent of defendant, prepared these contracts and the material lists attached thereto as part thereof, and negotiated with the plaintiff for bids upon such materials and procured the signing of the contracts by the plaintiff and by the corporate officers of the defendant; that all transactions between plaintiff and defendant concerning the furnishing of material for the sixty-one homes herein involved were conducted on behalf of defendant by its construction superintendent, C. E. Slavens. (Tr. 16, 164, 252-6, 258-264, 274-9, 392-3, 497-500, 511, 534).

"6. That there was attached to each contract, plaintiff's exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, a detailed list of the materials to be furnished, with quantities indicated; that in each case these were set forth in two groups referred to as "Package 1" and "Package 2", respectively; that the "Package 1" list covered items known as framing materials, and "Package 2" lists covered finishing materials. (Tr. 6 ff; Exh's. 6-11 inclusive).

"7. That each of the contracts contained provisions substantially identical, as follows:

" 'It is mutually agreed that any additions or deletions in the materials to be furnished are to be given in writing by the Party of the Second Part (defendant) to Party of the First Part (plaintiff), and the value of the change, based upon prices quoted in the attached lists, shall either be added or subtracted from the original contract.

\*\*\*\*

" 'It is understood that delivery will be made and billed by package number as per attached lists.'

(Exh's. 6-11 inclusive).

"8. That the plaintiff furnished to the defendant the materials specified in the material lists attached to the contracts, plaintiff's exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, and from time to time billed the defendant for such materials, each such billing being identified by package number as provided in the contracts; that plaintiff received payment for the materials in the stated quantities as specified in the materials lists, parts of the contracts, and makes no claim herein for any part of such specified materials. (Tr. 415, 435).

"9. That in addition to the materials as specified in the material lists, parts of plaintiff's exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, plaintiff delivered to the projects for use in construction of the homes other materials not mentioned in the respective material lists, referred to in this case for convenience as "extras," of the nature and in the quantities as specified in plaintiff's exhibit 4, and plaintiff also delivered to the projects for use in construction of the homes materials of the kind mentioned in the respective materials lists, but in excess of the quantities therein listed, referred to in this case for convenience as "overages" in the quantities specified in plaintiff's exhibit 5. (Tr. 27, 85-8, 93-7, 186-7, 332, 401, 417, 605-6; Exh's 4, 5, 17).

"10. That the defendant gave no written orders for delivery of any "extras" or "overages" to any of the construction projects. (Tr. 85, 88, 163).

"11. That the materials thus delivered were furnished by plaintiff on the oral direction and instructions of C. E. Slavens, defendant's construction superintendent, and such materials were used in the course of construction of the sixty-one houses. (Tr. 29-32, 85-88, 160, 181, 232, 320).

"12. That no record was kept by defendant of materials delivered to the job sites, and that no receipts for deliveries were signed by anyone on behalf of de-



fendant. (Tr. 64-67, 175-176, 214, 266, 270, 303-4, 307-9, 327, 373-4, 501).

"13. That plaintiff kept itemized book records and an invoice file showing "extras" and "overages" delivered to the respective job sites, plaintiff's exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 17, and that deliveries were in fact made as shown by these records. (Tr. 33-37; Exh's. 1, 2, 3, 17).

"14. That at the times when plaintiff billed defendant for materials specified in the materials lists, parts of the contracts, exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, and received payment therefor, plaintiff was required to sign receipts prepared by defendant's construction superintendent, C. E. Slavens, or under his direction; that these were on printed forms supplied by the First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., through which bank the defendant was procuring funds for financing construction of the homes, such receipts being parts of defendant's exhibits 12, 13, 13-B, 14, 14-B, 14-C, 15, 15-A, 15-B, 15-C, 16, 16-A, 16-B, 16-C, and 16-D. (Tr. 204-211, 276-8; Exhibits named).

"15. That these receipts and lien waivers were required and payments of the amounts therein specified were made upon invoices or billings made by plaintiff to defendant; that said invoices or billings were for materials delivered as per the material lists, parts of the contracts, plaintiff's exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, without itemization; that these invoices or billings were for the exact sums specified in such material lists, "Package 1" or "Package 2" totals, as the case may be; and that payments in each instance also corresponded with the contract price total for material listed in the particular "packages." (Tr. 204-211; Exh's. 6-11 inclusive; Exh's. 12-16 inclusive).

"16. That at the times of presentation of these bills and invoices and executions of the receipts and lien waivers no discussion was had between the parties as to materials being supplied other than or in addition to

the materials specified in the so-called "packages" or material lists attached to the contracts, plaintiff's exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive. (Tr. 566).

"17. That duplicate deliveries were made by plaintiff to the first project in Orem, Utah, for the reason that orders placed were delayed in delivery, necessitating the plaintiff obtain some of the same materials elsewhere; that as result thereof, there was some carry-over throughout the construction of the projects; that in each instance, plaintiff inventoried materials thus left over, and that defendant was in each instance given proper credit in plaintiff's accounts for all items charged against one project which were thereafter transferred for use upon subsequent projects. (Tr. 18-27, 134-35, 140-41, 266, 325, 395).

"18. That there was no understanding or agreement between the plaintiff and the defendant that the plaintiff was required under the contracts, plaintiff's exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, to deliver any materials other than those specifically listed upon the material lists part of the contracts, in the amounts therein specified. (Tr. 211, 238-9, 566; Exh's. 6-11 inclusive).

"19. That not later than July 1, 1957, defendant was on notice by reason of written billing that plaintiff was charging and expecting to be paid for "extras" and "overages" he delivered to the projects, but defendant, through its construction superintendent, C. E. Slavens, continued to authorize and order such "extras" and "overages" without requiring written order therefor. (Tr. 60, 404-5, 410-11; Exh. 19).

"20. That plaintiff on January 31, 1958, presented defendant with his statement for all extra and additional materials furnished for construction of the sixty-one houses; and that payment has never been made by or on behalf of defendant to plaintiff on this statement. (Tr. 413-15, 446; Exh. 30).

“21. That plaintiff and defendant entered into other contracts, not in issue herein, for the roofing of the sixty-one homes herein involved, these contracts containing a similar prohibition against changes without prior written order of defendant; that under those contracts plaintiff provided roofing materials in addition to the amounts required by those contracts upon oral order of the said C. E. Slavens, without written order, and that defendant paid plaintiff for such additional roofing materials, without regard to the contract provision requiring prior written order. (Tr. 101-108, 193-4, 197-8, 407-13).

“22. That subsequent to the execution of certain of the contracts, plaintiff’s exhibits 6 to 11, inclusive, and without prior notice to plaintiff, defendant changed plans of some of the houses being constructed, used materials delivered by plaintiff in making such changes, and plaintiff learned thereof only after the fact, when additional materials were required of him. (Tr. 99-101, 285-6, 294-6, 301-03, 376, 500-1, 516-17, 596, 602).

“23. That plaintiff at all times herein involved believed and relied upon the belief that defendant’s construction superintendent, C. E. Slavens, had authority to order extras and additional materials for use in construction of the homes and to do so without signing orders in writing therefor. (Tr. 160, 211, 421-3, 452).

“24. That neither plaintiff nor his employee, Clyde Davis, in signing the receipts referred to in finding of fact no. 14, above, intended such receipts or any of them to constitute acknowledgment of payment in full for all material furnished by plaintiff for construction of the house or houses referred to in the respective receipts, but on the contrary, intended such receipts to acknowledge payment for the materials specified in the respective material lists and referred to collectively as “Package 1, or Package 2”; that the plaintiff and Clyde Davis did,

however, intend said receipts to operate as waivers of any lien which plaintiff might claim against the real estate referred to in the respective receipts. (Tr. 211, 437-446, 455-7).

“25. That neither the defendant nor its construction superintendent, C. E. Slavens, was misled or deceived by the signing of the receipts in the form in which they were signed, and that the defendant did not suffer damage by reason of the signing or delivery of such receipts. (Tr. 160, 211, 455-7).”

On the foregoing findings, the trial court concluded that appellant's construction superintendent had apparent and actual authority to order the extra materials not on material lists, part of the contracts, and materials on the lists in greater amounts than therein called for, that on the facts the requirement of the contracts for written modification was in effect waived, that the receipts and lien waivers were not a bar to this action, and that respondent was entitled to judgment.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

QUESTIONS OF LAW RAISED ON THIS APPEAL WERE SETTLED BY THIS COURT ON THE FIRST APPEAL AND ARE “THE LAW OF THE CASE.”

### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT FOUND THE FACTS AGAINST APPELLANT; THE RECORD SUPPORTS THESE FINDINGS; AND UNDER THE PRIOR DECISIONS OF THIS COURT, THE JUDGMENT SHOULD STAND.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

QUESTIONS OF LAW RAISED ON THIS APPEAL WERE SETTLED BY THIS COURT ON THE FIRST APPEAL AND ARE "THE LAW OF THE CASE".

We take the rule to be that where an appellate court in its opinion states a rule or principle of law which is directly raised on such appeal, it is necessary that the appellate court's decision on such rule or principle must be adhered to throughout all the subsequent proceedings in such case, both in the trial court and upon a subsequent appeal, unless: (a) A change in the law has in the meantime been made by legislative action; or (b) a change in the law has in the meantime been effected by a decision on precisely the same question by a higher appellate court. *Petty Vs. Clark* (1948) 113 Utah 205; 912 P2d 589. Of course, the conditions set forth under (a) and (b) above do not prevail in this case.

Under Point I of its brief, appellant argues its theory on the effect of the "Parole Evidence" rule on certain evidence admitted by the trial court. This point was argued on the first appeal; it was directly before this court; and it was resolved by this court in its decision therein. *John S. Davis, etc. v. Payne and Day, Inc.*, *Supra*, Headnote 2. We belabor this question no further.

Under Point II of its brief, appellant argues error on the question of evidence admitted to show the extent of Mr. Slavens', the construction superintendent's authority. There is no essential difference between this evidence offered on the first trial and the evidence offered and admitted on the second trial. This question was urged before this court on the first appeal; it was



argued extensively, and the question was decided against the appellant. We point out that there was never any question as to whether Slavens was an agent of the corporation. The sole question was the extent of the authority. The trial court in following the decision of this court on the first appeal admitted the evidence complained of. We submit that the trial court did not commit error and that the decision on the first appeal herein laid this issue at rest.

The evidence objected to under Point III of appellant's brief concerning payments made to respondent under other contracts not in issue herein in connection with the same construction project, though changes were not authorized in writing, was offered at the first trial, objected to by appellant, its admissibility argued before this court on the first appeal, and considered in this court's opinion. We deem this point sufficiently answered.

The argument of the appellant under Point IV of its brief that Slavens did not have the apparent authority claimed by respondent was on the first trial presented before the court at pretrial, and upon the trial. It was argued before this court on the first appeal, and the question was decided by this court in that decision. The trier of the fact on the second trial found that Mr. Slavens had the *actual* authority from the corporate principal to take the action he did regarding extras and overages. The court further found that he in fact did make such changes, and we submit that the record amply supports this finding.

We deem one matter raised by appellant in its brief should be answered, though we assert that we have answered it step by step throughout this long and arduous proceeding. Appellant attempts to point out that there was some "secret agreement" between respondent and Mr. Slavens. Appellant completely ignores the fact that

Mr. Slavens was the agent of the appellant; that he was not the agent of the respondent; and that under his written contract of employment, and under his testimony at the trial, he was under a duty as agent to the appellant, not to the respondent. We do not know what claim appellant might be able to successfully assert against Mr. Slavens, but that issue is not before the court.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT FOUND THE FACTS AGAINST APPELLANT; THE RECORD SUPPORTS THESE FINDINGS; AND UNDER THE PRIOR DECISIONS OF THIS COURT, THE JUDGMENT SHOULD STAND.

This is a law case. We deem it horn book law that upon a finding of fact made when the evidence is in dispute, should there be evidence upon which the trier of the fact could have relied to resolve the dispute, this court will not upset that finding.

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